BOARD OF EDUCATION OF THE LAWRENCE TOWNSHIP SCHOOL DISTRICT

AGREEMENT BETWEEN BOARD OF EDUCATION OF THE LAWRENCE TOWNSHIP SCHOOL DISTRICT

AND

LAWRENCE TOWNSHIP PRINCIPALS' AND SUPERVISORS' ASSOCIATION

EFFECTIVE DATE: JULY 1, 1996 THROUGH JUNE 30, 1999

		•	
			•
			•
			•
			٠

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
Article I	Recognition	1
Article II	Negotiation Procedures	2 3
Article III	, Grievance Procedure	
Article IV	Association Rights and Privileges	6
Article V	Supervisory Employee Rights	7
Article VI	Evaluation	8
Article VII	Leaves of Absence	. 9
	A. Sick Leave	
	B. Personal Leave	
	C. Death in Family	
	D. Sickness in Family	
	E. Leave Taken Pursuant to B & D	
	F. Disability/Maternity	
	G. Child Care and Adoption	
	H. Military	
	I. Family Leave	
Article VIII	Sabbatical Leaves of Absence	15
Article 1X	Vacation	19
Article X	Professional Development	21
	A Professional Dues	
	B. Professional Development Allowance	
Article XI	Insurance Protection	22
	A Blue Cross/Blue Shield,	
	Rider J, Major Medical	
	B. Prescription	
	C. Dental	
	D. Vision Care	
Article XII	Retirement Benefits	24
	A. Payment for Unused Sick Leave	
	B. Medical Coverage	
Article XIII	Transfers, Reassignments and Promotions	25
Article XIV	Miscellaneous	26
Article XV	Management Rights	28
Article XVI	Duration of Agreement	29
Article XVII	Salary and Factors	30
	Miscellaneous Provisions	33

			•

ARTICLE I - RECOGNITION

- A In accordance with Chapter 123, Public Laws of 1974, the Board recognizes the Lawrence Township Principals' and Supervisors' Association, hereinafter known as "the Association", as the exclusive and sole representative for collective negotiations concerning the terms and conditions of employment for all certified supervisory personnel as defined by law employed by the Lawrence Township Board of Education, hereinafter known as "the Board."
- B. In addition, the following personnel are excluded from this bargaining unit: Superintendent and Central Office Administrators.
- C. Only the term "employee" or "employees" when used hereinafter in this Agreement shall refer to all employees represented by the Association in the negotiating unit as above defined; categories of employees shall apply only to those categories mentioned.

ARTICLE II - NEGOTIATION PROCEDURES

- A The parties agree to enter into collective negotiations over a successor Agreement in accordance with Chapter 123, Public Laws of 1974, State of New Jersey, in a good-faith effort to reach Agreement on all matters concerning the terms and conditions of employment. Such negotiations shall begin not later than October 1st of the calendar year preceding the calendar year in which this Agreement expires. Any Agreement so negotiated shall apply to all members of the unit as defined, be reduced to writing, signed by the Board and the Association, be ratified by the Association, and be adopted by the Board.
- B. Neither party in any negotiations shall have any control over the selection of the negotiating representatives of the other party.

ARTICLE III - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

A. Definitions

- 1. Non-Arbitrable Grievances A "grievance" is an allegation by an employee covered by this Agreement or the Association, that there has been a violation of Board policy. The Board shall be that last step in this procedure on this type of grievance. These non-contract grievances may not be submitted to binding arbitration.
- 2. Arbitrable Grievances A grievance is an allegation that there has been a violation of a provision of this Agreement. Such grievances may be submitted through the entire grievance procedure up to and including binding arbitration as the final step in that procedure. Only grievances that deal with violations of the provisions of this Agreement may be submitted to binding arbitration.
- 3. A "grievant" is an employee who files the grievance or the Association.
- "Representative" is a person or agent designated to represent either party in this
 procedure.
- 5. "Day" means a day when district schools are open for business.
- 6. "Party in interest" is a person, agent or agency with an interest in the grievance.

B. Procedures

- Grievances shall be processed promptly and expeditiously.
- Formal grievances and appeals shall be filed in writing.
- Communications and decisions concerning formal grievance shall be in writing.
- 4. A grievant shall be permitted a representative at all levels of the procedure.
- There may be additional evidence submitted during the grievance process by either party once a grievance has been submitted to the Board.
- 6. Failure by a grievant to process a grievance within the specified time limits shall render the grievance null and void.
- Failure by the Board to issue a decision within the special time limits shall render the grievance advanced to the next level.
- 8. Grievances shall be adjudicated according to the terms of this procedure and the filing, pendency or hearing of any grievance shall not impede the normal management of the work force or operations of any of the activities or functions of the Board, or of the grievant.
- 9. Forms for grievance processing shall be developed between the parties and shall be

- mutually agreed upon by the parties and distributed on an as needed basis by either party.
- 10. The parties in interest will cooperate in investigating and providing pertinent information concerning a grievance being processed.
- Notice of hearings shall be given to the grievant at least five (5) days in advance and such hearings shall be held on mutually agreeable premises.

C. Processing

 The number of days indicated at each level should be considered as a maximum and every effort should be made to expedite the process. The time limits specified may, however, be extended by mutual consent of the parties. Such mutual consent shall be drafted and signed by the parties in writing.

D. Steps of the Grievance Procedure

- STEP ONE A grievance, to be considered under this procedure, must be initiated by the grievant within fifteen (15) work days from the time of its occurrence. Any employee covered by this Agreement who has a grievance shall discuss it first with his/her immediate supervisor in an attempt to resolve the matter informally at that level.
- 2. STEP TWO If, as a result of the above discussion, the matter is not resolved satisfactorily within five (5) work days, the grievant shall set forth his/her grievance in writing to the immediate supervisor. Any grievance not submitted on the form provided will be considered void and not eligible for resubmission, except it may be resubmitted if the original time limit for submission of grievances has not expired and the grievance is resubmitted within the original time limit on the proper form. The appropriate supervisor shall communicate his/her decision to the grievant in writing within ten (10) work days after receipt of the written grievance.
- 3. STEP THREE The grievant, no later than five (5) work days after receipt of the decision in the foregoing step, may appeal the decision to the Superintendent. The appeal to the Superintendent must be made on the form provided, reciting the matter as specified above and his/her dissatisfaction with decisions previously rendered. The Superintendent shall attempt to resolve the matter as promptly as possible, but within a period not to exceed fifteen (15) work days. The Superintendent shall communicate his/her decision in writing to the grievant and all related papers and evidence shall be attached.
- 4. STEP FOUR If the grievance is not resolved to the grievant's satisfaction, he/she may request, not later than five (5) work days after receipt of the Superintendent's decision, a review by the Board. The request shall be submitted in writing to the Superintendent. All related papers and evidence shall be attached. The Board, or a committee thereof, shall review the grievance and shall, at the option of the Board, hold a hearing with the grievant within fifteen (15) working days and, render a

decision in writing within fifteen (15) days of receipt of the grievance by the Board.

5. STEP FIVE - If a decision of the Board does not resolve the grievance to the satisfaction of the grievant and the Association wishes review by a third party, the grievance may be submitted to binding arbitration as long as the grievance concerns a matter that is an allegation that a provision of the contract has been violated. If arbitration is requested, the Association shall notify the Board within fifteen (15) work days of receipt of the Board's decision in Step Four. The notification to the Board shall be submitted by certified mail to the office of the Superintendent.

E Non-Arbitrable Grievances

Grievances concerning (a) any matter for which a specified method of review if prescribed either by law or in any regulation of the State Commissioner of Education or any matter which according to law is either beyond the scope of Board authority or limited to action by the Board alone; (b) a complaint of a non-tenured employee, which arises by reason of his/her not being re-employed; (c) a complaint by any employee occasioned by an appointment to, retention or lack of retention in these positions, in which tenure is either not possible or not required; (d) any matter not part of this Agreement; and (e) any Board policy shall not be deemed to be arbitrable.

- F. The following procedures shall be used to secure the services of an arbitrator:
 - 1. Once the Board has received notification within the time limits stated in paragraph "A" above, the parties shall seek to agree upon an arbitrator to serve. If no agreement can be reached within fifteen (15) working days, the Association may invoke the arbitration selection procedures of the Public Employment Relations Commission (PERC). It is the responsibility of the parties to follow those procedures in determining who shall serve as the arbitrator in each instance.
 - 2. The following rules will be binding on any arbitrator and the parties:
 - (a) The arbitrator must first rule on the arbitrability of the grievance if so requested by either party.
 - (b) The arbitrator shall have no power to add to, subtract from or alter the language of this agreement. He/she will have no power to make an award inconsistent with law and he/she shall have no power to entertain grievances that do not constitute violations of the Agreement. The arbitrator shall rule only on the allegation that a provision of the Agreement has been violated.
 - (c) The arbitrator's decision shall be final and binding on all parties on matters regarding violations of the contract.
 - (d) The cost of the services of the arbitrator shall be shared equally by the parties in interest.

ARTICLE IV - ASSOCIATION RIGHTS AND PRIVILEGES

A. Released Time for Meetings

Whenever it is mutually agreed that any employee participates during working hours in negotiations, grievance proceedings, conference or meetings, that employee shall suffer no loss in pay.

B. Use of School Buildings

The Association and its representatives shall have the right to use school buildings at all reasonable hours for meetings with prior approval of the principal. Such approval shall not be unreasonably withheld.

C. Use of School Equipment

Subject to prior approval of the building principal, the Association shall have the right to use school facilities and equipment, including typewriters, mimeographing machines, other duplicating equipment, calculating machines and all types of audio-visual equipment at reasonable times, when such equipment is not otherwise in use. The Association shall pay for the reasonable cost of all materials and supplies incident to such use, and for any repairs necessitated as a result thereof. Such approval shall not be unreasonably withheld.

D. The Association shall have the right to reasonable and legitimate use of the inter-school mail facilities for Association business as it deems necessary and without approval of building principals or other members of the administration.

E. Exclusive Rights

The rights and privileges of the Association and its representatives, set forth in this Agreement, shall be granted only to the Association as the exclusive representative of the employees, and to no other organization seeking to represent employees covered by this Agreement.

F. No employee shall be prevented from wearing regular membership pins of the Association or its affiliates.

ARTICLE V - SUPERVISORY EMPLOYEE RIGHTS

A. Rights and Protection in Representation

Pursuant to Chapter 123, Public Laws of 1974, the parties hereby agree that every employee in the unit shall have the right to organize, join and support freely the Association for the purpose of engaging in collective negotiations or to refrain from joining or participating in any way. The parties undertake and agree that they shall not directly or indirectly discourage or deprive or coerce any rights conferred by Chapter 123, Public Laws of 1974, or other laws of New Jersey of the Constitution of New Jersey and the United States: that they shall not discriminate against any supervisory employee with respect to hours, wages or any terms or conditions of employment by reason of membership or non-membership in the Association; participation in any activities of the Association or decision to refrain from such activities; collective negotiations with the Board; or institution of or refusal to institute any grievance, complaint or proceeding under this Agreement or otherwise with respect to any terms or conditions of employment.

B. Just Cause Provision

No employee shall be disciplined without just cause.

C. Required Meetings or Hearings

Whenever any employee is required to appear before the Superintendent, Board or any committee or member thereof concerning any matter that may adversely affect the status of his/her employment, the employee shall be given 48 hours prior notice (which will be in written form) of the reasons for such meeting or interview and shall have the right to have (a) representative(s) of the Association and/or attorney present to provide advice and representation during such meeting or interview. Any suspension shall be in accordance with provisions of 18A:25-6 and shall be with pay in compliance with 18A-6-8.3 until formal determination by the Board to certify charges.

D. Criticism of Supervisory Employees

Any criticism of an employee by a supervisor or Board member shall be made in confidence and not in the presence of the employee, parents, students or at a public gathering, unless the employee has requested that the matter be discussed in public.

ARTICLE VI - EVALUATION

A. Recommendations for Improvement

The Board and Superintendent subscribe to the principle that an employee has the right to know the judgement of his supervisor respecting the effectiveness of his/her performance and that, further, the employee is entitled to receive such recommendations for improvement that will assist in increasing the effectiveness of his/her performance.

B. Frequency of Review

Each administrator shall receive no less than one (1) written evaluation per year if tenured, nor less than three (3) written evaluations per year if non-tenured.

C. Evaluation Procedures

1. Copies of Reports

Each employee shall sign all copies of each written evaluation, attesting to the fact that the contents of the evaluation are known to him/her. No written evaluation may become part of an employee's personnel file without the employee's signature. Further, each employee shall receive a copy of each written evaluation.

2. Rights of Employee to Respond

A conference shall be arranged between the evaluator and the employee as soon as possible after receipt of the written evaluation by the employee. At such time, the employee is entitled to have his/her response to the evaluation heard and appended to the evaluation report.

3. Notice of Contract Renewal

Each non-tenured employee shall receive written notice, prior to April 30 of each year, if the Superintendent does not intend to recommend a renewal of contract for the ensuing year.

4. Changes

The evaluation instrument and evaluation procedures shall be reviewed with a committee of administrators prior to any changes being made.

ARTICLE VII - LEAVES OF ABSENCE

A. Sick Leave

- Ten-month employees will be allowed eleven (11) sick leave days per year. Twelve month employees will be allowed thirteen (13) sick leave days per year. Any unused sick leave from one school year may accrue and be used in another school year.
- A full-time professional employee who has exhausted all of his/her sick leave days
 provided for in (1) above may be entitled to additional non-accumulative sick leave
 days in accordance with 18A and Board policy.

Personal Business Leave

- Personal business leave is defined as the absence of an employee during school hours for urgent or pressing matters that cannot be attended to at another time. These days are not intended for recreational type activities which shall be considered as "vacation days."
- 2. Personal Business Leave shall not be used to extend a school holiday without approval of the Superintendent. A request for Personal Business Leave made for a time occurring immediately preceding or following a holiday will of necessity, therefore, require the reason for said leave be set forth so that discretion may be exercised.
- 3. Absence of three (3) personal business days per year will be granted an employee without reduction in pay. The number of unused days in any year shall accumulate for the purpose of sick leave from year to year. No more than fifteen (15) sick days may be accumulated in any one year for future availability.

C. Death in Family Leave

- Death leave shall be defined to mean the leave from a post of duty of an employee due to the death of a member of the immediate family.
- 2. Immediate family: up to five (5) days leave per occurrence without loss of pay shall be granted when an employee suffers a loss of a member of the immediate family. "Immediate Family" shall include husband, wife, children, mother, father, brother, sister, mother-in-law, father-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, cohabitant partner, child of cohabitant partner, or any member of the employee's immediate household.
- Other close relatives: up to three (3) days leave per occurrence without loss of pay shall be granted when an employee suffers the loss of a sister-in-law, brother-inlaw, grandmother, grandfather, grandmother-in-law, grandfather-in-law.

- 4. Close friend or a relative who is not a member of the immediate family: up to one (1) day of leave per occurrence without loss of pay shall be granted for an employee to attend the funeral of a close friend or relative who is not a member of the immediate family.
- Computing days in computing such days, the following days will not be counted: legal holidays, weekends, or other days when the employee's attendance is not required.
- 6. Unusual Circumstances in unusual circumstances, the Superintendent is authorized to determine if a special relationship existed between the deceased and the employee which is not covered by any policy, and to determine if a leave is warranted due to these special circumstances. In such instances, the Superintendent is authorized to take discretionary action.

D. Sickness in the Family Leave

Up to two (2) days leave of absence per year without loss of pay will be allowed when personal presence is needed due to illness of a spouse, parent, grandparent, child, brother, sister, spouse's parents, cohabitant partner, or child of cohabitant partner.

E. Leaves taken pursuant to Section B and D above shall be in addition to any sick leave to which the employee is entitled.

F. Disability/Maternity Leave

- 1. An employee who is unable to work due to a disability, including a maternity disability, may request a leave of absence for the period of time related to the disability. The Board shall not arbitrarily or unreasonably deny such requested leave. Unless the employee on leave has sick leave available and is otherwise able to use sick leave, such leave of absence shall be without pay.
- Any employee who becomes pregnant shall notify the Superintendent of her condition and, if she elects to remain in her position, may be required to submit periodic certification of her continuing fitness to perform her duties.
- The Board recognizes that pregnancy-related disabilities must be treated like other disabilities. Thus, during the thirty (30) days preceding and the thirty (30) days following childbirth, when the employee is presumed to be disabled, she will be entitled to sick leave benefits.

Should disability occur earlier in the pregnancy or continue for more than one month following birth, the employee may use additional sick leave benefits if she presents a physician's statement attesting to her continued disability.

- 4. The Board reserves its right to request that an employee applying for leave submit a statement of health from her physician, and further reserves the right to require a maternity disability leave to start sooner than requested should the employee's condition (mental or physical) warrant this action. Any such action shall be subject to the procedure described in F:1 and F:2 of this Article.
- 5. The Board shall not remove any employee from her duties during pregnancy, except on any one of the following bases:
 - Performance: Her performance has substantially declined from the time immediately prior to her pregnancy.
 - b. Physical Incapacity: Her physical condition or capacity is such that her health would be impaired if she were to continue working, and which physical incapacity shall be deemed to exist only if:
 - (1) The employee fails to produce a certification from her physician that she is medically able to continue working, or
 - (2) The Board's physician and the employee's physician agree that she cannot continue working, or
 - (3) Following any difference of medical opinion between the Board's physician and the employee's physician, the Board may request expert consultation in which case a third impartial physician, agreed upon by the employee and the Board, shall be appointed to examine the employee and render a medical opinion which shall be conclusive and binding on the issue of medical capacity to continue working. The expense of any examination by an impartial third physician under this paragraph shall be shared equally by the employee and the Board.
 - c. Just Cause: Any other "just cause" as defined in NJSA Title 18A.
- 6. When the anticipated period of disability occurs early in the school year and therefore could substantially disrupt the continuity of the educational process, it may be in the best interest of both parties for the leave to start at the beginning of the school year. Should both the Board and the employee agree, the employee may use up to two (2) months of accumulated sick leave, despite the requirement that to receive disability payments an employee must work until one (1) month before childbirth.
- In the case of pregnancy, the commencement date of the requested maternity disability leave may be any time prior to birth.
- 8. The Board recognizes that pregnancy does not necessarily disable an employee. Thus, no employee will be required to take unpaid leaves of absences for pregnancy. As described in Article F:2, the Board may at its discretion require periodic physician certification of the employee's continued fitness to perform her duties.

- 9. As the Board permits employees to work until they are disabled by pregnancy, should an employee choose to take an unpaid leave prior to any actual disability, this employee will not be able to receive sick leave payments when disability does occur.
- 10. Except as otherwise provided in this Article, no tenured or non-tenured employee on maternity disability leave shall be barred from returning to work after the birth of her child by any prescribed waiting period between the birth of her child and the date of return to work; however, each such employee shall be required to file, at least two weeks prior to the date of her return or at the time of giving the required notice of intention to return, whichever is earlier, a certificate from her physician stating that she is physically capable of resuming her full duties, provided that if the Board's physician is not in Agreement, that conflict of medical opinion shall be resolved in the same manner as set forth in F:5-b(3) of this Article.

G. Child Care and Adoption Leaves of Absence

- The Board shall grant child care or adoption leaves of absence without pay to employees under the following terms and conditions:
- 2. Any tenured or non-tenured employee may request an unpaid leave of absence to care for a newly born or adopted child.
- 3. Employees seeking an unpaid leave of absence for child care or adoption shall, when possible, make written application to the Superintendent not less than ninety (90) days prior to the requested commencement date of the leave. This ninety (90) day notification period may be reduced by Agreement between the employee and the Superintendent.
- 4. Any tenured or non-tenured employee may return to work within the school year in which the leave begins, provided he or she shall have specified the month when he or she desires to return. Any change of the date of return within the same school year shall only be allowed at the discretion of the Board provided application is made following the original grant of the leave of absence but prior to the announced commencement date thereof. Such change may be granted by the Board for reasons associated with the pregnancy, birth, adoption or for other proper causes provided that such change will not substantially interfere with administration of the school. Any tenured employee granted a leave of absence with a return date during the same school year, who wishes to extend said leave beyond the school year in which it commences, shall be permitted to do so if he/she makes application at least three (3) weeks prior to the commencement date of his/her leave of absence and subject to the provisions of G:3 of this Article.
- 5. An employee under tenure shall be granted a child care or adoption leave without pay or benefits for not more than three (3) years from September of the school year in which he/she requests the leave. When the leave is granted, he or she will return as a tenured employee.

- 6. The Board shall not be required to extend the leave on non-tenured employees beyond the school year for which they were hired. Non-tenured employees wishing to return for the following school year shall be considered by the Board for reemployment for the following year.
- 7. Any tenured employee may return to work in a school year subsequent to the school year in which his/her leave begins, provided he/she shall have requested to do so in his/her application for a leave of absence. Any such employee shall be permitted to return to work at the beginning of any of the two (2) school years following the school year in which his/her leave commences, provided such employee has given the Board written notice of his/her intention to do so not less than six (6) months prior to the beginning of the school year in which he/ she wishes to return.
- Any employee granted a leave of absence under this Article shall be eligible for an
 increment in the following year (or in the year in which he/she actually returns
 from such leave) provided he/she has worked at least one-half of the contractual
 work year.
- 9. No employee on child care or adoption leave shall, on the basis of said leave, be denied the opportunity to substitute in the Lawrence Township School District in the area of his/her competence.
- 10. Return to Service An employee returning to service after a child care or adoption leave shall be considered for the same position that was held at the time the leave began, if vacant, or if not, to a substantially equivalent position.

H. Military Leave

Military leave without pay shall be granted to an employee drafted into or recalled to military service, or volunteering in a period of national emergency. An employee on military leave of absence shall be entitled upon return to work to such tenure, pension, and other unemployment benefits as were provided by applicable statutes. This entitlement shall not extend to anyone who voluntarily extends his/her service beyond the initial time required by the U.S. military.

I. Family Leave

A leave of absence without pay up to one (1) year may be granted an employee for the purpose of caring for a member of the employee's immediate family, which is defined as father, mother, brother, sister, husband, wife, cohabitant partner, children, father-in-law, mother-in-law, grandmother, or grandfather. The terms and conditions upon which such leave is granted shall be established in each case by recommendation of the Superintendent and approval by the Board. Employees on such leave are entitled to full benefits for up to twelve (12) weeks, in conformity with the New Jersey Family Leave Act.

- J. Upon return to work from any approved extended leave of absence the employee shall be assigned to the same position assignment formerly held or another similar position within the system at the discretion of the Superintendent.
- K. The Board may grant such additional leaves of absence without pay as it may deem necessary and appropriate.
- L. A registered letter, mailed returned receipt requested, will be sent to the employee by the Superintendent thirty (30) days prior to the termination of leave and the employee involved will be required to notify the Superintendent by registered mail no later than three (3) days after receipt of the letter of the employee's intent to resume his/her employment.

ARTICLE VIII - SABBATICAL LEAVES OF ABSENCE

- A. Appropriate Purposes for Sabbatical Leaves of Absence
 - 1. Formal graduate study or approved professional improvement;
 - Independent research undertaken in consultation with the Superintendent.
- B. Leaves for Study, Research or Professional Improvement

Any employee covered by this Agreement who has served in the Lawrence Township Public Schools for a period of at least seven (7) consecutive years may, on the recommendation of the Superintendent, be granted, by the Board, a sabbatical leave of absence for one (1) academic year, or one (1) semester, for the purpose of approved study, research or professional improvement planned to effect self-improvement and benefit to the school system.

C. Number of Leaves to be Granted to an Individual

Except for unusual circumstances, another sabbatical leave of absence, with pay, of any type will not be approved earlier than the completion of five (5) consecutive years of service in the Lawrence Township Public Schools after the return from previous sabbatical leave of absence.

- D. Salary During Sabbatical Leaves
 - All employees covered by this Agreement on sabbatical leave of absence as defined in A for one-half (1/2) year shall be entitled to their contractual salary and full benefits during the leave.
 - All employees covered by this Agreement on sabbatical leave of absence as defined in A for one (1) full year shall be entitled to one-half (1/2) their contractual salary.
 Full benefits for the year will be covered by the Board.
 - Salary payments will be made on the same basis as for other employees.
 - From this compensation, regular deductions shall be made for the Teachers' Pension and Annuity Fund, and such other deductions that are required.
 - The Board will continue its normal contribution for major medical insurance and other fringe benefits for the employee during a sabbatical leave.
 - During a sabbatical leave, the employee shall continue to accumulate sick leave.
 - 7. The sabbatical leave shall be counted for purposes of seniority and advancement of salary, as if the employee had functioned as an administrator during the entire previous year in the school district.

- The Board will reimburse the employee for all textbooks, lab fees, and all other charges rendered by the college and/or university attended.
- No additional vacation days will accrue during the time that the employee is on a sabbatical leave.
- 10. Sabbatical leaves may be combined with programs of study, research, writing or travel which are financed by outside non-commercial agencies such as universities or foundations.

E. Application for Sabbatical Leaves of Absence

- 1. Applications for leaves starting the first semester must be submitted to the Superintendent no later than the first school day of the preceding April.
- Applications for leave starting the second semester must be submitted to the Superintendent no later than the first school day of the preceding November.

F. Conditions Under Which Sabbatical Leaves of Absence Will Be Granted

- A sabbatical leave of absence with pay will be granted for only one(1) academic year or one (1) semester duration. Such leaves may be conditional upon obtaining an acceptable replacement.
- All activities for which leaves are granted must be planned in consultation with the Superintendent. Any major changes in such plans must also be planned in consultation with the Superintendent and approved in advance by the Board.
- 3. In cases of sabbatical leaves of absence for pursuance of formal graduate study, a minimum of twenty (20) credit points will be required for full-year leaves and ten (10) credit points for one (1) semester leaves. The study must be in courses for which formal college graduate credit is granted. The content of the course pursued should be in the staff member's own field of work in the Lawrence Township Public Schools or in closely related fields.
- 4. When formal college credit has been granted during the leave, an official transcript will be required. When leaves have been granted for any other purpose, written reports planned in consultation with the Superintendent will be required.
- Sabbatical leaves of absence will not be granted for the purpose of engaging in gainful occupations or for the purpose of studying for a trade or another profession.
- 6. Before beginning the sabbatical leave, the employee granted the leave shall enter into contract to return to active service in the Lawrence Township Public Schools for a period of at least two (2) years after the expiration of such leave. An employee who does not fulfill this agreement shall repay to the Board a sum bearing the same ratio to the amount of salary received while on leave of absence that the unfulfilled portion of the two (2) subsequent years' service bears to the full two (2) years; provided,

however, that the employee shall be released from such payment if his/her failure to serve the two (2) years as stipulated is due to his/her illness, disability or death, or if he/she be discharged from his/her position by the Board.

- During the sabbatical leave the employee will retain all rights as if in full-time employment including tenure, pension, and eligibility for salary increment.
- Outside activities in which employees engage for pay during the regular school year may be continued during a sabbatical leave of absence, but must not be expanded in any way during the leave without the approval of the Superintendent.
- Employees, while on leave, will not be employed to do any work for the school system during the period of the leave.
- 10. A registered letter mailed return receipt requested will be sent by the Superintendent thirty (30) days prior to the termination of leave and the employee involved will be required to notify the Superintendent by registered mail no later than three (3) days after receipt of the letter, of the employee's intent to resume his/her employment.
- The employee may be required to submit to the Board a written report on the sabbatical leave.

G Interruption and/or Termination of Leave

- 1. In the event that injury or illness compels the employee to interrupt or to terminate the sabbatical leave, the employee must notify the Superintendent immediately.
- Upon receipt of such notification, the Superintendent shall notify the Secretary of the Board and the employee that the provision of the sick leave policy will be applicable from the first day of the next pay period following receipt of such notification.
- The employee shall have the medical reasons for interruption of the leave verified by a medical doctor, and have a report forwarded to the Superintendent.
- Upon release by his/her private physician, and with the approval of the school medical inspector the employee will continue sabbatical leave for the remainder of the school year.
- 5. In instances where the leave is terminated by illness or injury, the employee will receive sick pay for a period of time equal to his/her accumulated sick leave. If the accumulative sick leave is exhausted and the employee is either unable to resume his/her sabbatical leave and carry out his/her objectives or to return to school, the Board shall determine whether to grant a leave of absence for the balance of the academic year, and under what conditions.
- If a sabbatical leave is terminated, the employee's seniority and credit shall continue just as if he/she had continued his/her sabbatical leave.

- If the sabbatical is terminated and the employee returns to work, he/she will be reassigned as needed, at the discretion of the Superintendent.
- H. Additional Compensation Since the purpose of this leave is graduate study and/or research, the applicant shall not accept other employment during the period of the leave unless it pertains directly to his/her objectives and then only upon the approval of the Superintendent.

Revocation of Leave

- 1. If the Superintendent determines that the terms of the sabbatical leave are not being fulfilled, he shall report this fact to the Board.
- 2. If the Board believes that the leave should be revoked, it shall provide the employee with the opportunity to be heard.
- 3. After evaluating the merits of the case, the Board shall either continue the sabbatical leave or revoke the leave and return the employee to service.
- J. Return to Service An employee returning to service after a sabbatical leave may be assigned to any administrative position for which he/she is certified and qualified. Whenever possible, assignments shall be discussed with the employee prior to the offering of the succeeding contract or salary Agreement.

ARTICLE IX - VACATION

- A. Twelve-month employees will receive twenty-two (22) vacation days per year.
- B. Annual vacations for twelve-month employees may be taken during the school year with approval of the Superintendent.
- C. Up to forty-four (44) vacation days may be cumulative and upon retirement, a twelvemonth employee will be compensated for these cumulative days at his/her current per diem rate of pay.
- D. An employee who dies before the contract period is completed, shall have payment for cumulative vacation days paid to his/her estate.
- E Cumulative vacation days beyond forty-four (44) days shall be converted to sick leave.
- F. An exception to the forty-four (44) day rule shall be those unusual occasions when a twelve-month employee is precluded from utilizing his/her vacation days if professional obligations are to be reasonably satisfied.

Examples of such circumstances are the opening of a new school or the employment of an unusually large number of teachers. On such occasions, the employee may apply for the opportunity to accumulate ten (10) additional vacation days. Should the Superintendent recommend, and the Board approve, these days will remain as a permanent addition until such time as all vacation days are used or upon retirement.

- G A twelve-month employee who is employed during the fiscal year shall receive prorated vacation time at the rate of 1.83 days per month of employment prior to July 1 of the next school year.
- H. In addition to twenty-two (22) vacation days, an annual calendar granting a minimum of fifteen (15) holidays per year will be established by the Superintendent and Board.

Examples:

Independence Day
Labor Day
Jewish holidays (when school is closed)
Thanksgiving Day
Day after Thanksgiving
Last working day before Christmas
Christmas
First working day after Christmas
Last working day before New Years
New Years Day
Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr. Day
Lincoln and Washington Birthdays (when school is closed)
Good Friday

Easter Monday (when school is closed) Memorial Day

If school is in session these days, or if the employee works on a holiday, the employee may substitute other days with the approval of the Superintendent.

ARTICLE X - PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

A. Professional Dues

The Board shall pay professional dues for each employee according to the following table:

	<u> 1996-97</u>	<u> 1997-98</u>	<u> 1998-99</u>
Supervisors	\$600	\$600	\$600
Administrators	\$825	· \$ 825	\$825

⁻ Dues for LTPSA will be excluded.

B. Professional Development Allowance

A Professional Development Allowance based on a yearly distribution of \$10,000 divided equally among the total number of district supervisors, directors, assistant principals and principals will be made available to each employee for each of the three years of this contract. This allowance may be used for any professional development pursuit deemed appropriate by the individual employee which may include but not be limited to: professional development workshops, conferences and college courses; professional memberships (above and beyond the existing professional dues reimbursement allotment); purchase of instructional videos, computer software and reference materials, etc.

This allowance may also be used to offset additional expenses (transportation, lodging and/or conference fees) directly related to attending district approved conferences and workshops.

The designated yearly amount does not accumulate from year to year, nor is it transferable. The allowance may be increased or decreased based on the total number of employees equally sharing the yearly \$10,000 amount.

ARTICLE XI - INSURANCE PROTECTION

- A. Blue Cross/Blue Shield, Rider J. Major Medical
 - Employees may voluntarily participate in the Hospital Service Plan of New Jersey (Blue Cross, Blue Shield, Rider J) and in the Blue Cross/Blue Shield Major Medical Plan.
 - Deductions from the salary payments of participating members of the Plan for the premiums shall be made by the Secretary of the Board, and the premiums paid by him/her to the appropriate agency.
 - The Secretary shall keep on file the signed section of the application form which authorized the deduction.
 - 4. For employees enrolled in the various available insurance plans, the Board will pay the following amount:
 - a Blue Cross/Blue Shield (UCR) Series/Rider J 100% (Drug Prescription Plan) (Major Medical Plan) Single Plan.
 - b. Blue Cross/Blue Shield (UCR Series)/Rider J 95% (Drug Prescription Plan) (Major Medical Plan) Family Plan.
 - Blue Cross/Blue Shield (UCR Series)/Rider J 95% (Drug Prescription Plan)
 (Major Medical Plan) Husband and Wife Plan.
 - d. Blue Cross/Blue Shield (UCR Series)/Rider J 95% (Drug Prescription Plan) (Major Medical Plan) Parent and Child Plan.
 - e. Blue Cross/Blue Shield (UCR Series)/Rider J (Drug Prescription Plan) (Major Medical Plan) Medicare Plan;

Single Plan				100%
Family Plan	(1	over	65)	95%
Family Plan	(2	over	65)	95%
Husband-Wife	(1	over	65)	95%
Husband-Wife	(2	over	65)	95%

- 5. Effective July 1, 1993, the annual deductible under the medical/surgical plan shall be \$200.00 per individual and \$400.00 per family.
- Effective July 1, 1993, under the medical/surgical plan, covered employees will be obligated to obtain a mandatory second opinion on certain defined surgical procedures to be fully covered by the plan.
- Any employee who elects not to participate in the Board's hospitalization insurance program will be compensated \$2,000/year upon submitting proof of other medical insurance coverage.

B. Prescription Drug Only:

1.	Single	100%
	Family	95%
	Husband and Wife	95%

- 2. The co-pay under the prescription plan shall be \$7.00 effective July 1, 1996. There shall continue to be no co-pay for generic drugs. Prescriptions shall not be reimbursable through the major medical plan unless they are specifically excluded under the prescription plan. Co-payment under the prescription plan is reimbursable under the major medical plan.
- C. The dental program shall be consistent with the plan described in the LTEA contract. The Board will pay for 100% of the premium for single employee coverage and 95% of the premium for all other employees.
- D. The Board shall maintain a vision care program for the employee only. The plan, from V.S.P., shall have a \$20.00 deductible, and Plan B shall be effective July 1, 1993.
- E. The Board retains the right to change insurance carriers provided that the benefits remain unchanged. No change in carrier will be made without prior consultation and input from the Association.

ARTICLE XII - RETIREMENT BENEFITS

A tenured employee, upon retirement from the district (withdrawal from TPAF) after fifteen (15) years of service in the Lawrence Township Public Schools, shall be compensated at a rate of one (1) day for every two (2) days for his/her accumulated sick leave, up to \$19,568 for twelve-month employees and \$11,841 for ten-month employees.

Compensation for unused sick days on the same basis will become payable to the estate of the employee if he/she dies while in active service.

B. Medical Coverage

- 1. A tenured employee upon retirement from the district (withdrawal from TPAF) after fifteen (15) years of service in the Lawrence Township Public Schools, shall receive the following medical coverage. The Board shall pay the full cost of the retiree's current health/hospital/surgical, prescription, and dental plans for a period of five (5) years to begin the date of retirement.
- 2. There will be no request for the Board to pay for duplicate State or Federal coverage.

ARTICLE XIII - TRANSFERS, REASSIGNMENTS, AND PROMOTIONS

A The parties recognize that the assignment, transfer and promotion of personnel is a management function vested by law exclusively in the Board, and that nothing in this Agreement should be construed to derogate from the power and responsibility of the Board in regard to such matters. In order to assist the Board in performing this function, as well as to make available as many opportunities as possible for voluntary transfers and promotions within the school system, the parties agree to the procedural provisions hereinafter set forth.

B. Vacancies

- No later than three (3) weeks before the final date when applications must be submitted, the Superintendent shall deliver to the Association a list of the known vacancies.
- 2. Professional employees who desire a change in assignment, may file a written statement of such desire with the Superintendent not later than April 15. Such statement shall include an accurate description of the position(s) to which the professional employee desires to be transferred, in order of preference.

C. involuntary Transfers

- Notice of an involuntary transfer or reassignment shall be given to professional employees as soon as practicable, and, except in cases of emergency, not later than June 1.
- An involuntary transfer or reassignment shall be made only after a meeting between the professional employee and the Superintendent, at which time the professional employee shall be notified of the reason thereof.

ARTICLE XIV - MISCELLANEOUS

- A. If any provision of this Agreement or any application of this Agreement to any employee or group of employees is held to be contrary to law, then such provision or application shall not be deemed valid and subsisting, except to the extent permitted by law, but all other provisions or applications shall continue in full force and effect.
- B. Whenever any legal notice is required to be given by either of the parties to this Agreement to the other, pursuant to the provisions of this Agreement, either party shall do so by telegram or certified mail at the following addresses:
 - If by Association, to Board at 2565 Princeton Pike, Lawrenceville, New Jersey 08648.
 - 2. If by Board, to Association President at home address.
- C. Copies of this Agreement shall be printed and issued at the expense of the Board within thirty (30) days after the Agreement is signed, and presented to all employees now employed, and hereafter employed, by the Board.
- D. Any contract between the Board and an individual employee, heretofore or hereafter executed, shall be subject to and consistent with the terms and conditions of this Agreement. If an individual contract contains any language inconsistent with this Agreement, this Agreement, during its duration, shall be controlling.
- E The Board shall have the right to terminate the employment of any employee not under tenure upon written notice of not less than sixty (60) days, except that such notice shall not be required where such termination is made by the Board on grounds permitted by appropriate statutes. An employee may voluntarily cease his/her employment with the Board providing he/she has first given the Board at least sixty (60) days written notice of his/her intention.
- F. Whenever the Superintendent recommends not to renew the contract of an individual employee not under tenure, the Superintendent shall give written notice of such intention to the employee as early as possible but in no event later than April 30 of the year in which the contract expires. An employee receiving such notice shall be afforded an opportunity promptly, upon request, to discuss the matter with the Superintendent or his/her designee. Any employee who intends not to renew his/her employment contract with the Board shall give written notice of such intention to the Board as early as possible but in not fewer than sixty (60) days.
- Whenever any employee is required to appear before the Board, or any committee thereof, concerning any matter which could adversely affect the continuation of that employee in his/her office, position of employment or the salary or any increments pertaining thereto then he/she shall be given prior written notice of the reasons for such meeting or interview and shall be entitled to have a representative of the Association present to advise him/her and represent him/her during such meeting or interview.

- H. Any newly hired employee who works less than fifty (50%) percent of the work year in a specific administrative or supervisory position shall not be entitled to a salary increment in the subsequent year. Any employee who works more than fifty (50%) percent of the work year in any school year shall be entitled to a salary increment for the subsequent year, absent Board action withholding same.
- The parties agree that for the life of this Agreement, there will be no strikes, slow downs, job actions or work stoppages.

ARTICLE XV - MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

- A The Board reserves to itself sole jurisdiction and authority over matters of policy and according to provisions of State law, retains the right, subject only to the limitations imposed by the language of this Agreement, in accordance with applicable laws and regulations:
 - (a) to hire, promote, transfer, assign and retain employees in positions within the school district and for just cause to suspend, demote, discharge or take other disciplinary action against employees;
 - (b) to abolish any such position for reasons of economy or because of reduction in the number of pupils or of change in the reorganization of the district or for other good cause;
 - (c) to maintain the efficiency of the school district operations entrusted them;
 - (d) to determine the means by which such operations are to be conducted; and
 - (e) to take whatever actions may be necessary to carry out the mission of the school district in situations of emergency. The rights of the Board shall include, but not be limited to, the provisions set forth in this paragraph.
 - (f) To establish and administer (not related to terms and conditions of employment)
 Board activities, training, operational functions, performance of services and
 maintenance of the facilities and equipment of the Board;
 - (g) to determine areas worked, to control and regulate the use of facilities, supplies, equipment, materials and any other property of the Board.
- B. It is understood by all parties that under the ruling of the courts of New Jersey and the State Commissioner of Education, the Board is forbidden to waive any rights or powers granted it by law.

ARTICLE XVI - DURATION OF AGREEMENT

- A. This Agreement shall be effective as of July 1, 1996, and shall continue in full force and effect until June 30, 1999. This Agreement shall not be extended orally and may not be modified in whole or in part except by an instrument in writing, duly executed by both parties.
- B. IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Association has caused this Agreement to be signed by its President and Secretary and the Board has caused this Agreement to be signed by the President, attested to by its Secretary and its corporate seal to be placed hereon.

LAWRENCE TOWNSHIP	
BOARD OF EDUCATION	

LAWRENCE TOWNSHIP PRINCIPALS' AND SUPERVISORS' ASSOCIATION

President

Secretary

President

Attest:

Attest:

ARTICLE XVII - SALARY AND FACTORS

A. Administrative Salaries

1. The salaries of all administrative personnel covered by this contract will be determined according to the following formula:

Salary = B x (C + Ed + Ex + P)

B = Base Salary

C = Contract Factor

Ed = Education Factor

Ex = Experience (administrative) Factor

P = Position Factor

- 2. The values of the base salary and the various factors are given in the factor guide.
- 3. Salaries of administrative personnel will be determined as follows:

A "guide salary" for each individual will be determined using the formula and the Factor Guide of paragraphs above.

- Nothing in this schedule shall be interpreted in such a way as to diminish the right of the Board of Education to withhold salary increases for individual administrators for just cause.
- Salaries for ten-month employees shall be paid under the same schedule as twelvemonth employees with their summer payment included, if requested by said employees.
- 6. Administrative Change Any administrator changing to a higher level of administrative responsibility will be granted one year of salary experience for every two years of previous administrative experience within the district. The amount of credit to be given shall not exceed two years, unless it is negotiated with the superintendent.
- 7. Teacher to Administrator Position Change An employee with eight or more years of experience would receive one year of experience credit.
- 8. An administrator coming to Lawrence with administrative experience in another district will receive one year credit for every two years experience if the experience was earned in the same level position. However, if the person is moving up to a higher level, the total should not exceed two years.

B. Administrative Salary Factors

All salaries are frozen for the 1996-97 school year.

Salary Base		Contract		
1996-97	\$50,700		10 Month 1.0	0
1997-98	\$51,599		12 month 1.2	0
1008-00	\$52 BO1			

Administrative Expe	rience			Education	
,	<u> 1996-97</u>	<u> 1997-98</u>	<u> 1998-99</u>		
0 years	0.00	0.00	0.00	Masters	0.00
1 year	0.05	0.05	0.05	Masters +30	0.05
2 years	0.10	0.10	0.10	Doctorate	0.10
3 years	0.20	0.20	0.15		
4 years	0.25	0.25	0.20		
5 years	0.30	0.30	0.25		
6 years			0.30		

Position	<u>Factor</u>
High School Principal	.40
Middle and Intermediate School Principals	.30
Elementary School Principal	.26
Directors	.16
High School Assistant Principal	18
Middle and Intermediate School Assistant Principals	.16
English, Math/Science, Foreign Language/Social Studies,	
Related Arts Supervisors	.08

C. Administrative Longevity

As of July 1, 1996, longevity will no longer be awarded to members of this bargaining unit. However, those who received longevity prior to July 1, 1996 will be grandfathered for the duration of this contract at their 1995-96 rate of longevity pay. This rate has been incorporated into the administrative experience factor as follows:

	Longevity	Experience	Total Experience <u>Factor</u>
Walter C. Woolley	.030	.30	.330
Sheila A. MacDonald	.056	.30	.356
Richard Graja	.042	.30	.342
John D. Machulsky	.059	.30	.359
Harry Conover	.056	.30	.356
Carol Stinnett	.050	.30	.350
lda Venanzi	.044	.30	.344
Tina Salmastrelli	.052	.30	.352
Bernard Bricketto	.042	.30	.342
Edward Nartowitz	.030	.30	.330

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

A. Salary Payment Schedule

- Employees on a twelve-month basis shall be paid in twenty-six (26) bi-weekly installments.
- Employees on a ten-month basis shall be paid in twenty-two (22) bi-weekly installments.
- 3. When a payday falls on or during a school holiday, ten-month employees shall receive their paychecks on the last previous working day. Ten-month employees shall receive their final checks for the school year and a list of pay dates for the following year on their last working day in June.
- 4. When requested by ten-month supervisors, the Board shall deduct 10% of their salary from each of their paychecks. These funds shall be paid to the employees on July 15 of the next fiscal year. All funds so deducted shall be deposited by the business office in an interest bearing account. Whenever interest earnings accrue, they shall be deposited in an account designated the LTPSA Scholarship Fund.
- B. In accordance with state statutes, the Board may withhold any increment provided by the Salary Guide and the employee, denied an increment to which he/she is otherwise entitled, shall have recourse only to the appeals procedures prescribed by such statutes.
- C. The Board shall deduct from employees' salaries money for any or all of the following as requested by such employees:
 - Disability and accident insurance.
 - 2. Annuities.
 - Professional Dues.
 - 4. Public Employee Charitable Campaign.
 - 5. United States Savings Bonds.
- D. An employee will not be assigned involuntarily to supervise an extra duty pay position listed in the LTEA negotiated agreement.

			•
			•
·		•	
			(